

This report was initiated by AstraZeneca and funded by AstraZeneca, GE HealthCare, Ibex Medical Analytics, Sophia Genetics and Thermo Fisher Scientific. The Health Policy Partnership (HPP) led the research and report drafting, with insights from an expert Steering Committee. All funders were invited to comment on drafts of the report. All recommendations are non-promotional and evidence based. AstraZeneca conducted a review of the policy report for scientific accuracy on behalf of all funders. Other than HPP, none of the contributors to the project were remunerated for their time, and HPP retained editorial control over final content on behalf of the Steering Committee.











### **About this report**

The report was drafted by Shannon Boldon, Esther Shackleton and Jody Tate of The Health Policy Partnership (HPP), and co-authored by the members of the project's Steering Committee:

- Anne-Marie Baird, Senior Research Fellow at Trinity College Dublin, Ireland; President of Lung Cancer Europe, Switzerland
- Petros Christopoulos, Professor of Medicine at Heidelberg University, Germany; Head of Scientific Coordination for the Thoracic Oncology Program in the Thoraxklinik at Heidelberg University Hospital, Germany
- Tony Collier, Vice Chair and Trustee of Tackle Prostate Cancer, United Kingdom
- Laura Cortesi, Director of Oncological Genetics at Modena University Hospital, Italy
- Eva Jolly, Chief Coordinating Officer at Karolinska Comprehensive Cancer Centre, Sweden
- Mark Lawler, Associate Pro-Vice-Chancellor and Professor of Digital Health at Queen's University Belfast, United Kingdom; Scientific Director of the Health Data Research Hub for Cancer (DATA-CAN), United Kingdom; Co-Lead of the European Cancer Organisation's Special Networks
- Zorana Maravic, Chief Executive Officer of Digestive Cancers Europe, Belgium
- Parker Moss, formerly Chief Partnership Officer at Genomics England, United Kingdom; now Executive Vice President at Exscientia, United Kingdom
- Frédérique Penault-Llorca, Professor of Pathology at the University of Clermont-Ferrand, France; Director of Centre Jean Perrin UNICANCER; Deputy Director of the Molecular

- Imaging and Theranostic Strategies (IMoST)
  Research Unit, Clermont-Ferrand, France;
  and President of the Immuno-oncology
  Group at UNICANCER, France; Deputy
  President of UNICANCER Group, France;
  President of AFAQAP (French Association
  for Quality Assurance in Pathology);
  President of the Immuno-oncology group at
  UNICANCER R&D, France
- Federico Rojo, Head of the Pathology Department, Leader of the Molecular Pathology Laboratory, Senior Physician in Pathology, and Scientific Director of the Biobank at Fundación Jiménez Díaz (FJD) University Hospital, Spain
- Heinz-Peter Schlemmer, Head of the Radiology Department at the German Cancer Research Center, Germany; Professor of Radiodiagnostic Oncology at the Medical Faculty of the University of Heidelberg, Germany
- Annemiek Snoeckx, Associate Professor at the University of Antwerp, Belgium; Chair of the Radiology Department at the Antwerp University Hospital, Belgium

We would also like to thank:

- Dani Bancroft, previously of HPP, for her input during early phases of this work
- ► Fatima Cardoso, Director of the Breast Unit, Champalimaud Clinical Center, Portugal, and President of Advanced Breast Cancer Global Alliance, for providing her time to be interviewed for this project.

### **Contents**

Foreword	5
Executive summary	6
Why health systems must prepare for advanced diagnostics	8
Benefits for people with cancer	8
Improvements for health system efficiency	9
The potential to drive equitable outcomes	10
Types of advanced diagnostics	11
Advanced molecular technologies	11
Advanced imaging technologies	12
Data-driven technologies	13
How health systems can prepare for advanced diagnostics	14
Adapting regulatory pathways to support the rapid assessment and uptake of advanced diagnostics	14
Developing innovative approaches to reimbursement and funding that support equitable access to advanced diagnostics	16
Improving the efficiency and equity of diagnostic and care pathways	18
Addressing gaps in workforce numbers and expertise to ensure advanced diagnostics can be implemented at scale	19
Building awareness and trust in advanced diagnostics among people with cancer and the wider public	20
Call to action: harnessing advanced diagnostics to transform cancer care in Europe	21
Recommendations for policy change	21
Glossary	23
Deferences	25

### **Foreword**

Without urgent action, the number of people dying from cancer in Europe will continue to rise. In 2022, there were 1.3 million cancer-related deaths in Europe, a 2.4% increase on 2020.¹ Global estimates suggest that, during the 21<sup>st</sup> century, cancer will surpass cardiovascular disease to become the leading cause of premature death.² This highlights the immediate need for earlier and more accurate diagnosis, and more effective treatments for all cancers.

While cancer outcomes are improving for some people, many others continue to face a poor outlook. People with lung, pancreatic and liver cancer, for example, are among those who face a particularly poor prognosis.¹ People with a cancer diagnosed at a late stage also face especially poor outcomes. For example, only 10% or fewer people with advanced-stage lung cancer are expected to live for five years or longer.³ In advanced pancreatic cancer that is metastatic (meaning it has spread to other parts of the body), fewer than 5% of people will survive for three years or more.⁴

Advanced diagnostics are the basis on which we could see significant improvements in cancer outcomes. They present an opportunity for people with cancer to benefit from improved survival and quality of life due to more accurate and earlier diagnosis coupled with more effective, targeted treatments and fewer severe side effects from treatments that are not likely to be effective. Advanced diagnostics may also bring health system efficiencies by reducing the use of treatments that would be ineffective for an individual, and offering greater automation of diagnostic tools and clinical workflows – potentially freeing up time from an already overburdened workforce.

Health systems in Europe will not be able to realise the full benefits of advanced diagnostics unless all people have access to them and not just those who are fortunate enough to receive their care at a specialist centre. Policy- and decision-makers across Europe must recognise the pivotal role that advanced diagnostics could play in improving cancer outcomes, and act now to ensure all people with cancer can benefit from new and emerging innovations.

#### Signed by

Members of the Steering Committee

### **Executive summary**

Advanced diagnostics have the potential to transform outcomes for people with cancer. Historically, diagnosis and treatment of cancer have been based on the location of a tumour and its stage. But increasingly sophisticated diagnostic approaches are now allowing researchers and healthcare professionals to understand cancer in much greater depth. This more detailed understanding of each person's cancer can help healthcare professionals diagnose cancer earlier and more accurately, reducing the chance of incorrect diagnosis or a diagnosis being missed, and allowing for the selection of treatments that target specific biological pathways. This approach, known as precision medicine, has the potential to: 9

- improve the effectiveness of treatment
- reduce the chance of someone being exposed to severe side effects from treatments that would not be effective for them
- allow healthcare professionals to monitor in real time how well treatment is working – in case a different approach might be more effective.

Health systems could see efficiencies and cost savings from the widespread implementation of advanced diagnostics for cancer. Cancer-related costs may be reduced due to fewer ineffective treatments being delivered and the reduced need to manage severe side effects. <sup>10-12</sup> Some advanced diagnostics would allow cancers to be diagnosed earlier, which might also bring savings. <sup>13</sup> Furthermore, technologies such as those that use artificial intelligence could support the optimisation of clinical workflows. <sup>14 15</sup>

Advanced diagnostics comprise a range of technologies that are not yet widely available in clinical practice. These include technologies that provide more precise images of a tumour or cancer cells, more in-depth information on the molecules within cancer cells, and more powerful data and analytical tools. While these technologies hold great promise, they are largely available only in research settings and/or specialist hospitals.

As advanced diagnostics become more widely available, existing barriers could become more pronounced. Complex regulatory and reimbursement pathways may be slowing down the availability of new technologies and disincentivising investment and innovation; inadequate infrastructure and workforce capacity are limiting the ability to deliver increasingly complex diagnostic techniques; and low awareness of the role and benefits of diagnostics among people with cancer could limit their use. <sup>16-19</sup> These issues are contributing to widespread variation in diagnostic practices across Europe and could ultimately be contributing to inequalities in cancer outcomes. <sup>20-23</sup> Such inequalities must be understood and addressed to avoid their widening when advanced diagnostics become available in health systems.

Securing the benefits of advanced diagnostics relies on health systems being ready to adopt them in a way that provides equal access for all people with cancer. While full system adoption of advanced diagnostics will take time, this report provides some concrete recommendations to help health systems prepare. We have identified five priority areas where policymakers should take action:



Adapt regulatory pathways to support the rapid assessment and uptake of advanced diagnostics.



Develop innovative approaches to reimbursement and funding that support equitable access to advanced diagnostics.



Improve the efficiency and equity of diagnostic and care pathways.



Address gaps in workforce numbers and expertise to ensure that advanced diagnostics can be implemented at scale.



Build awareness and trust in advanced diagnostics among people with cancer and the wider public.



#### Benefits for people with cancer

Advanced cancer diagnostics are enabling researchers and healthcare professionals to understand the complex nature of cancer in more detail than ever before. The use of advanced diagnostics — which are currently available only in research and/or specialist hospital settings – is supporting an evolution in cancer diagnosis. This means diagnosis is moving from being based solely on the type and stage of cancer towards including the precise determination of a cancer's location, size, and molecular and genetic characteristics. 56

Throughout this report, terms highlighted in blue are hyperlinked to the glossary.

With the increasingly precise information provided by diagnostics, healthcare professionals can select highly tailored treatments. This approach is known as precision medicine . <sup>24</sup> While current diagnostic tools are able to collect some information and are already supporting improvements in cancer outcomes for some people, advanced diagnostics could progress this much further. <sup>25</sup> <sup>26</sup> This is because they can collect larger and more complex data sets that can provide a more detailed understanding of cancer than ever before, and guide decisions on the most effective treatment. <sup>14</sup> <sup>27-29</sup>

**Advanced diagnostics could play a pivotal role in improving survival for people with cancer.** As advanced diagnostics enter clinical practice, we could see: earlier and more accurate diagnosis, with an associated reduction in incorrect diagnosis or a diagnosis being missed; greater stratification of cancer based on the unique characteristics of a tumour; the selection of more tailored treatment options that are likely to be most effective; and more accurate <u>monitoring</u> of treatment effectiveness.<sup>673031</sup> People with cancers that are diagnosed at an earlier

stage tend to be more likely to survive than those whose cancers are diagnosed at a late stage.<sup>32</sup> Advanced diagnostics that are more sensitive and can detect earlier-stage cancers therefore hold great potential in improving the overall chance of someone surviving cancer.<sup>32</sup>

These new diagnostic tools could also contribute to improved quality of life for people with cancer. Use of advanced diagnostics could reduce the risk of people with cancer being exposed to treatments that may be ineffective for them and cause severe side effects, thus increasing the chance that people complete their recommended course of treatment.<sup>30</sup> It may also support a reduction in the need for multiple − potentially invasive − diagnostic procedures such as tissue biopsies ◆.624

We urgently need new diagnostic tools that detect cancer at an early stage and are also patient-friendly.

**ZORANA MARAVIC**Belgium

#### Improvements for health system efficiency

System-wide healthcare costs could be reduced through the use of advanced diagnostics. While precision medicine approaches may increase the cost of diagnosis and treatment, their use is likely to reduce other health system costs.<sup>30</sup> This is due to factors including fewer ineffective treatments being delivered and less need to manage severe side effects for treatments that would not be effective for that individual. 10-12 In Ireland, for example, it was found that over €50,000 could be saved per person with colorectal cancer by testing people with the cancer for a specific genetic variation and selecting their treatment based on the results. This was largely because healthcare professionals were able to tailor treatment approaches and avoid severe side effects that could have led to the person being hospitalised. 11 By enabling earlier diagnosis, advanced diagnostics could bring cost savings, as earlier-stage cancers are generally less expensive to treat.<sup>13</sup> For example, medical costs for breast cancer diagnosed at an early stage are around 50% lower than for breast cancer diagnosed at a late stage.33

**50**%

lower medical costs for breast cancer diagnosed at an early stage compared with those diagnosed at a late stage

Advanced diagnostics could also bring efficiencies to the way

healthcare is delivered. Artificial intelligence (AI)-based technologies could help alleviate the workload of staff reading images such as X-rays, scans or pathology slides, while also supporting the optimisation of clinical workflows. Al-assisted pathology can reduce the time it takes pathologists to review samples by over 30%, improve diagnostic accuracy, and reduce the chance of incorrect diagnosis or diagnosis being missed altogether. Some advanced imaging technologies could support greater efficiency by enabling healthcare professionals to identify and mark cancer for treatment during surgery, avoiding the need for a subsequent procedure. However, as the use of advanced diagnostics is currently largely restricted to research settings, the evidence of their full economic impact is limited.

30%

reduction in time needed for pathologists to review samples when using Alassisted pathology

#### The potential to drive equitable outcomes

A range of barriers limit access to existing diagnostics, contributing to inequalities in cancer outcomes across Europe. Countries with the highest rates of cancer-related deaths – such as Poland, Slovakia and Hungary – also have poorer access to diagnostic technologies. <sup>126</sup> <sup>35</sup> <sup>36</sup> Even in countries considered to have generally good access to healthcare, such as France and Germany, around 25–50% of people with non-small-cell lung cancer do not receive guideline-recommended tests at diagnosis. <sup>21</sup> <sup>37</sup> Furthermore, rates of cancer-related deaths are higher among people with lower levels of education and those who live in rural areas; the population groups are also less likely to have access to early diagnosis and effective treatments than people with higher levels of education or those who live in urban areas. <sup>38</sup> <sup>39</sup>

We need to acknowledge existing inequities in currently available diagnostics and be sure not to replicate them with future advancements.

To ensure all people with cancer in Europe can benefit, health systems must be ready to implement advanced diagnostics. Policymakers must learn from the challenges that are driving inequalities in access to current diagnostics, to avoid these inequalities continuing or even worsening when advanced diagnostics become widely available. ANNE-MARIE BAIRD Ireland



#### **Advanced molecular technologies**

Liquid biopsy > is a minimally invasive diagnostic approach that could provide a more holistic view of a person's cancer than traditional tissue biopsy. Liquid biopsy can collect molecular information from multiple cancer sites simultaneously, including from cancer cells that have become detached from a main tumour and spread to other parts of the body something that a tissue biopsy cannot do. 40 41 Because liquid biopsies are less invasive and therefore easily repeatable, they are more practical than tissue biopsies.<sup>41</sup> This could especially benefit people who are considered high risk for a surgical procedure, those whose tumours are relatively inaccessible, and the 15-20% of cases where a sample from a tissue biopsy is insufficient for diagnostic testing. 42 43 Liquid biopsy can be more sensitive than some other diagnostic tools, detecting a cancer relapse on average 3-5 months earlier than a scan. 44 45 It can also be cost-effective and, in some cases, cost saving. 46 When used to predict the type of tumour a person has, liquid biopsy could save the health system in England £58,000 for every 100 people with brain tumours.<sup>47</sup> Liquid biopsy holds great potential but, in order to see it used widely, more data are needed to demonstrate its role in improving patient survival and to understand how cost-effective it is.404148

Other advanced molecular approaches are being developed that could further enhance the sensitivity and speed of analysis of samples from liquid and tissue biopsies. Third-generation squencing (TGS) allows healthcare professionals and researchers to analyse long strands of genetic code in real time so they can comprehensively map cancer-related changes. In the future, TGS could be used to guide clinical decisions. <sup>27 49 50</sup> It could also provide healthcare professionals with results much more

**Liquid biopsy** reduces the need for invasive tissue retrievals and remains sensitive, even for patients without radiologic evidence of disease. We need to generate more prospective evidence and secure its reimbursement so that all people with cancer can benefit from it.

**PETROS CHRISTOPOULOS**Germany

easily and quickly than current approaches.<sup>49</sup> Another approach, known as <u>epigenomics</u>, seeks to identify the specific patterns across the genome as normal cells become cancer cells.<sup>51</sup> This approach could be more sensitive and accurate than other molecular approaches, even at a very early stage.<sup>52-54</sup> It can also produce very precise data on where the cancer cells originated, to ensure the right treatment is selected.<sup>55-56</sup> This could bring additional benefits to people with cancer as it requires only a very small sample, which may limit the need for multiple biopsies.<sup>56</sup>

#### **Advanced imaging technologies**

Innovations in imaging techniques are supporting earlier and more accurate diagnosis of cancer. Many long-standing imaging techniques, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and positron emission tomography (PET), have seen significant advances in recent years, leading to a new generation of imaging technologies with the highest specificity and sensitivity to date. 6 29 <u>Total-body PET scans</u>  $\diamondsuit$ , for example, offer the potential for 40-fold greater sensitivity than traditional PET scans. 57 58 They also offer improved ability to detect cancers that may have spread, and reduce the time needed for each scan, significantly lessening a person's exposure to radiation. 59 60 Multiparametric MRI (mpMRI)  $\diamond$  can produce a more detailed picture of cancer than previous imaging technologies and more easily distinguish between cancerous and non-cancerous tumours. 61 This could allow more than 25% of people with suspected prostate cancer to avoid a tissue biopsy. 61 Hybrid imaging systems  $\diamond$  that combine different technologies in a single scanner (e.g. PET-CT and PET-MRI) can also provide a more accurate diagnosis than when used individually.<sup>29</sup>

Alongside these advancements, a range of new technologies that improve the accuracy and sensitivity of imaging results are in development. Some of these technologies (such as nanoparticle-based imaging (\*\*)) can be used to obtain clearer images of tumours, supporting healthcare professionals to better target treatment to specific cancer cells and monitor how that treatment is delivered. (62 63 In addition, molecular imaging probes (\*\*) are being developed, including tracers (\*\*) that are tailored to a person based on the genomic (\*\*) profile of their tumour; such tracers can create imaging data that is higher quality, and improve the accuracy of diagnosis.

Novel approaches to imaging are supporting pathologists to more accurately and efficiently diagnose cancer. Digital pathology involves digitising tissue samples on glass slides. This reduces the need for physical infrastructure by enabling cloud-based storage of slide images; one study in the US found that the implementation of digital pathology could

25%

of people with suspected prostate cancer could avoid tissue biopsy with the use of mpMRI

Combining
advanced imaging
technologies
with molecular
information from
liquid biopsies could
allow us to see
significant advances
in personalised
screening, diagnosis
and treatment.

**HEINZ-PETER SCHLEMMER**Germany

save a large academic centre USD\$1.3 million over five years.<sup>64</sup>
3D pathology  $\diamondsuit$  is an emerging approach to tissue analysis that combines digital and computational approaches that offer the potential for greater accuracy.<sup>65</sup>

\$1.3m

#### **Data-driven technologies**

Al can be used to support earlier and more accurate cancer diagnosis. Its potential benefits could include enhancing image quality, automatically detecting and segmenting tissues, and extracting important information on the features of a tumour from imaging data. These benefits can reduce errors and provide healthcare professionals with reliable and comprehensive data more quickly. Al is also expected to reduce the chance of incorrect diagnosis or a diagnosis being missed. It can also be used to guide treatment plans.

Al is having a tangible impact on the work of pathologists. Approaches such as computational pathology (CPATH) combine digital pathology with AI to analyse a combination of tumour information. This approach could improve diagnostic accuracy, reduce analysis time, and improve the efficiency of clinical workflows. CPATH has also demonstrated the potential to more consistently and efficiently identify people who could benefit from specific treatments. For example, it can detect high levels of the HER2 protein, which may indicate an aggressive but potentially treatable form of breast cancer. CPATH allows this information to be collected as accurately as manual analysis, but 50% faster. Several CPATH-based technologies are already approved for use in Europe, although a range of challenges need to be addressed to ensure their widespread adoption in clinical practice.

Combining data from molecular- and imaging-based advanced diagnostics could provide a more precise characterisation of each cancer and therefore guide treatment decisions more effectively than a single approach. This multimodal approach combines complementary data from various diagnostic methods and clinical data, allowing healthcare professionals to comprehensively assess cancer characteristics, stage and behaviour, and make more effective treatment decisions. Stage and behaviour, and make more effective treatment decisions. One study of people with lung cancer found that a multimodal approach combining genetic, pathology and radiology data outperforms approaches relying on just one commonly used molecular test by 19% when predicting how someone with non-small-cell lung cancer will respond to a particular treatment.

could be saved over five years at a large academic centre with the use of digital pathology

CPATH is faster than manual analysis by

**50**%

Using a multimodal approach to predict lung cancer treatment was found to outperform using a single molecular test by

19%



Advanced diagnostics have the capacity to transform cancer care, but only if health systems make them available to those who need them. To ensure that policymakers are adequately prepared for the introduction of advanced diagnostics, lessons must be learnt from the existing barriers and challenges that limit access to current diagnostics. By addressing these issues, we could see improved and more equitable cancer outcomes and greater health system efficiency. This could also support greater innovation in Europe by addressing the high levels of uncertainty that manufacturers currently face, which are limiting investment in diagnostic technologies that could benefit people with cancer in the region.<sup>19</sup>

Adapting regulatory pathways to support the rapid assessment and uptake of advanced diagnostics

Making regulatory assessments fit for purpose

Existing regulatory frameworks are unable to accommodate the adaptive nature of emerging technologies, especially those that use AI. AI-based technologies continually learn and evolve to be increasingly precise, but regulatory assessments do not reflect this because they take place at a single point in time.<sup>79 80</sup>

There is a need, therefore, for innovative and flexible regulatory approaches. Such approaches should reflect the adaptiveness of emerging technologies while ensuring their safety, effectiveness and accuracy. For example, the 'regulatory sandbox' model allows innovators to test new products under regulators' supervision before they enter clinical

We [people with cancer] hear about new technologies, which give us hope, but they take too long to become available. We need to ensure these technologies are available quicker, so we can close the gap between the hype and the hope.

**TONY COLLIER**United Kingdom

#### Case study 1

#### Testing novel products under supervision: the regulatory sandbox model

Regulatory sandboxes provide a framework to allow innovators to test new products under regulatory supervision. Under this model, existing regulatory requirements are relaxed or adapted for a limited time and under certain conditions.<sup>86</sup>

Although there are very few examples of regulatory sandboxes in practice, their implementation will be boosted through the €60-million, five-year programme
Testing and Experimentation Facility for Health AI and Robotics (TEF-Health).<sup>87</sup> The programme, funded by the European Union (EU) and the Digital Europe Programme, was established in 2023 and began implementation in early 2024.<sup>88</sup> TEF-Health comprises a network of facilities that will allow small- and medium-sized enterprises to test, validate and certify novel AI and robotics approaches in four areas, including cancer.<sup>82</sup> <sup>86</sup> <sup>89</sup>

Although TEF-Health is at the very early stages of implementation, and its impact is not yet clear, the project is expected to:85

- facilitate faster transfer of technology from research to clinical practice
- support the creation of standardised testing protocols and certifications that will be made available to innovators in the future
- increase public confidence in new technologies
- improve efficiency and reduce duplication by improving cooperation between innovators and regulators.

TEF-Health will also support the implementation of the recent EU AI Act, which calls for at least one regulatory sandbox for AI in each Member State.<sup>87</sup>

practice (*Case study 1*).<sup>82 83</sup> This approach could reduce the time it takes for a product to become available, encourage investment in innovation by allowing for real-world testing while reducing regulatory uncertainty, and support the development of clearer regulatory requirements and tools for use by innovators in the future.<sup>84 85</sup>

### Facilitating implementation of the In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices Regulation (IVDR)

Recent regulatory changes in the EU aim to improve the safety and quality of diagnostic devices, but the changes are leading to bottlenecks and delays. IVDR is an EU-level regulatory framework for diagnostics that comes with more stringent requirements for manufacturers to demonstrate and document safety and clinical effectiveness. But its implementation is being hampered by bottlenecks that prevent people with cancer from accessing the diagnostics – and, consequently, the treatments – they need. 18 91 There are not enough notified bodies

(organisations designated by the EU to approve diagnostics), nor guidance and frameworks for manufacturers on the approval process. <sup>19 91 92</sup> These challenges pose a risk to the availability of current diagnostics and, if left unaddressed, could affect the availability of advanced diagnostics. Access to diagnostics used in clinical trials for new cancer treatments in Europe is already seeing a negative impact; it is estimated that up to 27,400 people with cancer will be affected by delays in access to clinical trials. <sup>92</sup>

Strengthened infrastructure, guidance and frameworks to support IVDR's implementation could help ensure manufacturers meet the new regulatory requirements while avoiding unnecessary delays.

MedTech Europe, which represents medical technology companies, has highlighted the urgent need for structural changes to the regulatory system. 93 These include making the notified bodies approval system more efficient and adding an 'innovation principle' that allows for fast-track approval pathways for urgent medical need. 93 The European Commission should reflect on these aspects as it prepares for an upcoming evaluation of IVDR. 94

27.4k

people with cancer will be affected by delays in access to clinical trials

# Developing innovative approaches to reimbursement and funding that support equitable access to advanced diagnostics

Ensuring health technology assessment frameworks capture the full value of advanced diagnostics

The dynamic nature of cutting-edge technologies, especially those that use AI, creates new challenges for health technology assessment (HTA) bodies. Technologies are often assessed immediately after approval, before data that provide a fuller picture of long-term effectiveness and impact are available. As noted previously in relation to regulatory requirements, this is a challenge for technologies that use AI and are designed to learn and improve. Furthermore, HTAs may not capture broader aspects of value such as a technology's contribution to equitable outcomes in populations with high unmet needs.

**HTA** frameworks need to be agile and capture the full clinical, societal and economic value of advanced diagnostics. Frameworks and assessments must adapt for advanced diagnostics, especially those that use AI, to reflect their complex and evolving nature. They could draw from emerging frameworks in innovative cancer treatments that have extended the window of evidence generation for reimbursement decisions to take into account factors that are important to people with cancer and to society.

#### **Rethinking funding models**

**Public funding is often inadequate for the cancer diagnostics that are currently available.** The budgets that governments allocate for diagnostics vary but are very often below what is actually needed.<sup>19</sup> This is recognised as a major barrier preventing access to the diagnostics that are currently available.<sup>26</sup> <sup>97</sup>

Innovative models that involve risk-sharing offer one possible solution to address reimbursement-related concerns. Models that shift the risk towards the manufacturer until enough evidence has been collected may help overcome some of the challenges associated with reimbursement for advanced diagnostics. Although these models are mostly theoretical at this point, there are examples from other disease areas (*Case study 2*) that could be adapted and applied to support widespread access to advanced diagnostics.

#### Case study 2

### Applying a subscription-based reimbursement model for hepatitis C

In 2016, Australia committed AUD\$1.2 billion over five years to a subscription model for hepatitis C treatment.<sup>99</sup> This model is a finance-based (i.e. not based on performance or value), risk-sharing approach to reimbursement.<sup>100</sup> In return for this guaranteed funding, pharmaceutical companies provided an unlimited amount of direct-acting antiviral treatments for hepatitis C.<sup>99</sup>

This has led to major health and economic benefits:

- Between 2016 and 2030, Australia is projected to benefit from AUD\$6.17 billion in economic productivity gains, which will yield a net economic benefit of AUD\$5.70 billion.
- ◆ Australia is on track to reduce the hepatitis C infection rate by 23% (15,700 cases), and deaths are projected to decrease by 46% (8,500 deaths) between 2016 and 2030.

With a fixed budget of AUD\$1 billion, Australia is esimated to treat 93,400 more people with hepatitis C using this reimbursement model than traditional pay-perpacket pricing.<sup>101</sup>

**Providing optimal** funding for diagnostics is key, and realising that high-quality diagnostics can be cost saving must also be considered. **Health budgets** are often siloed. meaning there is little motivation for one area of the health service to **fund diagnostics** when cost savings may benefit another domain. We need a more holistic approach to cancer care which puts patients firmly at the centre.

MARK LAWLER
United Kingdom

Innovative solutions to funding are necessary to support the availability of advanced diagnostic tools and need to be supported by policy.

**ANNEMIEK SNOECKX**Belgium

## Improving the efficiency and equity of diagnostic and care pathways

#### **Building efficient testing infrastructure and pathways**

Gaps in infrastructure and inefficient testing pathways can lead to disparities in access and long delays in receiving results. In many European countries, underdeveloped infrastructure leads to unequal access to laboratory tests and imaging equipment.<sup>36</sup> <sup>102</sup> Tissue samples taken during a biopsy often have to follow complex pathways for testing, potentially involving numerous facilities.<sup>103</sup> This can contribute to delays in receiving test results that could support treatment selection.<sup>103</sup> <sup>104</sup>

Clear and efficient referral and testing pathways could ensure people with cancer have timely access to personalised treatments. Referral systems and testing pathways must be improved to ensure people with cancer can access best-practice care, regardless of whether the facility where they receive their care has the necessary infrastructure on site. The Locally based pathways with point-of-care testing may be appropriate for some technologies and could bring efficiencies while reducing delays in receiving results. Whole-genome sequencing at initial diagnosis could also streamline testing, providing a 'one-stop shop' for biomarker testing upfront, as opposed to multiple single-gene tests. Los

We need to adapt our infrastructure to build efficiency, improve turnaround times for test results and ensure greater communication between clinics and laboratories.

LAURA CORTESI Italy

#### Improving digital infrastructure and data-sharing standards

### The use of advanced diagnostics may be hampered by technical and legal challenges associated with compiling often disparate data sets.

Pooling clinical, pathological, genomic and imaging data sets from different institutions and/or countries is an ongoing challenge; significant investment and months of laborious extraction and annotation may be required before analysis can begin. This is further complicated by a lack of effective methods for extracting data from electronic health records, incompatible data formats, a lack of standardised cancer terminology for coding data, and a shortage of tools for harmonising and combining data sets. Legal barriers can also pose a challenge for data sharing across borders. The EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) – which was designed to protect people's privacy – could stifle patient-oriented collaborative research and international data sharing if implemented without careful planning.

Innovative models and frameworks for data sharing across countries in Europe could support the faster adoption of advanced diagnostics.

The European Cancer Imaging Initiative (ECII) was launched in 2023 as part of Europe's Beating Cancer Plan. One element of ECII involves creating a Europe-wide infrastructure for sharing cancer images – addressing

Barriers to sharing data across the country is a barrier to diagnostic innovation.

**FEDERICO ROJO**Spain

#### Case study 3

#### Enabling large-scale data sharing to support the use of AI in cancer care

The EUropean Federation for CAncer IMages (EUCAIM) is a digital infrastructure designed to facilitate the optimisation of AI and high-performance computing in cancer care. 112 113 It enables largescale data sharing within the bounds of GDPR. 112 114 115 EUCAIM is funded by the Digital Europe Programme, receiving more than €18 million. 113

The first trial of EUCAIM will build on preexisting, real-world, de-identified imaging data sourced from research repositories from the Artificial Intelligence for Health Imaging Network.<sup>112</sup> <sup>116</sup> The researchers, clinicians and innovators using these data will have access to a cross-border, secure data infrastructure and will be able to develop clinical decision-making tools that can support cancer diagnosis and treatment. 112 116 It is hoped the trial will demonstrate a proof of concept for how mass data sharing can be executed, while preserving the data sovereignty of providers and people with cancer. 112 113 116

By the end of the project, more than 100,000 cases will be available to clinicians and researchers, as well as at least 50 algorithms. These data will be shared via TEF-Health (see *Case study 1*), meaning small- and medium-sized operators will be able to use these data to test their technologies. The same straightful to the same straightfu

key barriers to data sharing and making cancer images more accessible ( $Case\ study\ 3$ ). <sup>110</sup> By broadening the pool of available data, researchers may be able to develop more accurate diagnostic tools to guide more appropriate clinical decisions.

### Addressing gaps in workforce numbers and expertise to ensure advanced diagnostics can be implemented at scale

#### Boosting workforce capacity to meet evolving needs

**Existing workforce challenges could pose a threat to delivering advanced diagnostics.** The demand for cancer services is outpacing workforce capacity, and this strain is expected to worsen. The specialist workforce required to deliver advanced diagnostics – including, but not limited to, pathologists and bioinformaticians – is experiencing acute shortages. This contributes to testing delays and long waiting times for results. At the same time, it is difficult for healthcare professionals to keep up to date given the speed of technological progress.

Targeted recruitment, upskilling of staff and leveraging potential efficiencies could address gaps in the workforce. Understanding which specific cancer professionals need to be recruited to deliver advanced diagnostics in clinical practice will be critical. The European Cancer Organisation has recommended an EU-level study to assess mid- and long-term skills gaps in oncology. As the skills needed to implement advanced diagnostics evolve, staff education and training will be important. Workforce challenges could also be mitigated by the optimisation of workflows and the greater use of tools that support healthcare professionals to take appropriate clinical decisions based on an individual's test results. 117

Building awareness and trust in advanced diagnostics among people with cancer and the wider public

#### Communicating the benefits of advanced diagnostics

People with cancer need an understanding of the role of advanced diagnostics to make informed decisions about their own care. This includes information on what genomic tests are for and their potential implications. Simple educational tools – such as videos and infographics – can equip people with the knowledge they need to discuss and make decisions about their treatment with their healthcare professional, leading to true shared decision-making. However, research has found that people with cancer, and the wider public, have limited awareness of precision medicine, which could be a barrier to its use.

**Efforts to raise awareness about advanced diagnostics must pay particular attention to socioeconomically disadvantaged and minority ethnic groups.** Testing rates are lower in socioeconomically disadvantaged populations than in other populations, <sup>21</sup> which could be contributing to inequitable outcomes. In addition, there is evidence that suggests people from minority ethnic backgrounds may be less willing to use precision medicine (including advanced diagnostics) in their care and may have more concerns about its use than people from non-minority backgrounds. <sup>122-124</sup> This suggests a need for policymakers, patient advocacy organisations and healthcare professionals to collaborate in developing studies, engaging in dialogues and creating policies that aim to understand and address barriers among these groups, and to build trust and support. <sup>17</sup> <sup>125</sup> <sup>126</sup>

Diagnostics are advancing all the time. We need to train clinical staff in a systematic and ongoing way on how to implement the new technologies as they become available.

**EVA JOLLY** Sweden

Healthcare professionals must ensure patients are engaged and empowered in decisions around their care. This means patients must be informed so that they can understand why a test may be needed and what the results mean.

**FATIMA CARDOSO**Portugal



#### **Recommendations for policy change**

National-level policy- and decision-makers must act now to 'futureproof' health systems by improving their readiness to adopt advanced diagnostics. At the same time, European-level institutions, including the European Commission and its funded initiatives, have the ability to create a more supportive environment that facilitates innovation, addresses inequalities and supports national-level implementation of advanced diagnostics. This would advance the EU's policy objectives in relation to beating cancer, addressing inequalities, the digitalisation of healthcare, and innovation.

To make this vision become a reality, five priority actions have been identified. By making these changes (see page 22), policy- and decision-makers could ensure that health systems are ready for the widespread adoption of advanced diagnostics when they become available. This would allow innovation to become accessible more quickly, ultimately supporting improved outcomes and quality of life for all people with cancer in Europe.

1

Adapt regulatory pathways to support the rapid assessment and uptake of advanced diagnostics.

- Redesign regulatory frameworks for advanced diagnostics to allow for their adaptive nature, and support the widespread adoption of regulatory sandboxes.
- Ensure the upcoming evaluation of the IVDR considers key aspects of the legislation that are leading to bottlenecks and uncertainty. This includes assessing efficiency and developing a fast-track assessment pathway for priority technologies.

2

Develop innovative approaches to reimbursement and funding that support equitable access to advanced diagnostics.

- Establish HTA frameworks that assess and recognise the full value of diagnostics for people with cancer and for society.
- Adopt risk-sharing models for the funding of advanced diagnostics to facilitate their smoother and more rapid integration into care pathways.

3

Improve the efficiency and equity of diagnostic and care pathways.

- Ensure testing and referral pathways for advanced diagnostics are clear, efficient and supported by appropriate infrastructure.
- Facilitate the sharing of data between institutions and across borders while ensuring data privacy through the use of innovative datasharing frameworks.

4

Address gaps in workforce numbers and expertise to ensure that advanced diagnostics can be implemented at scale.

◆ Identify and address gaps in the specialist workforce needed to implement advanced diagnostics while ensuring their expertise is updated to keep pace with rapidly evolving technologies.

5

Build awareness and trust in advanced diagnostics among people with cancer and the wider public.

Collaborate with patient associations and civil society in developing research and policies that aim to improve awareness of and trust in advanced diagnostics. These should specifically address the concerns and needs of traditionally underserved groups.

### Glossary

**3D PATHOLOGY:** An emerging approach to tissue analysis in which large samples are imaged using 3D microscopy instead of slides, and examined in high resolution and in combination with computational tools including artificial intelligence (AI).<sup>127</sup>

ADVANCED DIAGNOSTICS: A range of technologies, many of which are currently available only in research and clinical trial settings. These include: advanced imaging techniques, which provide images of a tumour or cancer cells; advanced molecular diagnostics, which provide information on the molecules within cancer cells; enhanced data and analytical tools; and the combined use of these technologies.

ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE (AI): A field of science concerned with building computers and machines that can perform advanced functions such as reasoning, learning and acting in a way that would traditionally require human intelligence. 128 AI is able to process a scale of cancer-related data that exceeds that which humans are capable of analysing. 128

**BIOMARKER (CANCER):** A measurable molecular indicator that provides information on the risk and occurrence of cancer, or on patient outcomes.<sup>129</sup>

**CHARACTERISATION:** Determination of the diagnosis stage and prognosis of the tumour regarding survival, which allows healthcare professionals to predict the response of a cancer to specific treatments.<sup>6</sup>

#### **COMPUTATIONAL PATHOLOGY (CPATH):**

The computational analysis of information extracted from digital pathology whole-slide images in combination with other data, typically using AI-based algorithms.<sup>14</sup> 130

**DETECTION:** The process of identifying the particular area of interest within an image, allowing for the characterisation of a tumour.<sup>6</sup>

**DIGITAL PATHOLOGY:** The process of digitising tissue samples on slides using whole-slide scanners. 14 130

**EPIGENOMICS:** The study of how local genome activity is changed without changes to the DNA sequence (known as epigenetics).<sup>51</sup>

**GENOMIC:** The study of DNA and genes.<sup>131</sup>

can combine different types of images obtained in one scanner to create multimodal systems; examples include the hybrid positron emission tomography (PET) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scanner, which uses advanced imaging workflows and image analysis.<sup>29</sup>

IN VITRO DIAGNOSTIC MEDICAL DEVICES
REGULATION (IVDR): EU legislation
that sets out requirements for the
certification of medical devices. A key
feature is the requirement that 80–90%
of devices undergo a conformity
assessment by a certified institution. 91

diagnostic procedure that collects bodily fluids (e.g. blood, saliva, urine) for analysis to provide an indication of disease status, and monitor response to treatment.<sup>6 48</sup>

**MOLECULAR IMAGING PROBE:** An agent used to visualise, characterise and quantify biological processes in living systems. One type of molecular imaging probe is a tracer.<sup>132</sup>

**MONITORING:** Observing how successful a treatment is by assessing how the tumour develops in order to determine whether a different treatment should be selected.<sup>6</sup>

**MULTIMODAL:** Approaches that involve the analysis of data from various diagnostic techniques (such as imaging, genomics and pathology) to assess characteristics, stage, behaviour and treatment response.<sup>28</sup> <sup>29</sup> <sup>77</sup> <sup>78</sup>

#### **MULTIPARAMETRIC MRI (MPMRI):**

A specific type of MRI scan that produces a more detailed picture of cancer than standard MRI. It supports cancer detection and risk classification.<sup>133</sup> <sup>134</sup>

**NANOPARTICLE-BASED IMAGING:** Improves the contrast of tumours in an image, making it easier to analyse. 135

PATHOLOGY: A medical specialty that is considered part of laboratory medicine. Pathology contributes to the diagnosis of diseases through identifying the cause and severity of disease, and monitoring treatments using samples from the body (e.g. blood, urine, tissues, cells). In addition, pathologists also perform post-mortem examinations and autopsies.<sup>136</sup>

precision medicine: An approach to selecting treatment based on information about differences in people's genes, environment and lifestyles. Some people refer to this approach as personalised medicine, although these terms are considered to be slightly different. So

#### **THIRD-GENERATION SEQUENCING (TGS):**

Enables the analysis of long strands of DNA or RNA.<sup>137</sup>

takes a small amount of tissue from the area in the body where cancer is suspected. The tissue is then sent to a laboratory and examined by a pathologist.<sup>138</sup>

### TOTAL-BODY POSITRON EMISSION TOMOGRAPHY (TOTAL-BODY PET):

A type of scan that allows for the entire body to be imaged simultaneously, and faster than traditional techniques, with less exposure to radiation.<sup>60</sup>

**TRACER:** A substance that is introduced to the body of a patient during an imaging scan and allows healthcare professionals to visualise cancer; a form of molecular imaging probe.<sup>6</sup> 139

### References

- 1. European Cancer Information System. 2023. 2022 New cancer cases and cancer deaths on the rise in the EU. [Updated 30/09/23]. Available from: https://ecis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/pdf/ factsheets/CancerEstimates2022\_ factsheet.pdf [Accessed 11/01/24]
- **2.** Bray F, Laversanne M, Weiderpass E, *et al.* 2021. The ever-increasing importance of cancer as a leading cause of premature death worldwide. *Cancer* 127(16): 3029-30
- **3.** Goldstraw P, Chansky K, Crowley J, et al. 2016. The IASLC lung cancer staging project: proposals for revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (eighth) edition of the TNM classification for lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol* 11(1): 39-51
- **4.** Cabasag CJ, Arnold M, Rutherford M, *et al.* 2022. Pancreatic cancer survival by stage and age in seven high-income countries (ICBP SURVMARK-2): a population-based study. *Br J Cancer* 126(12): 1774-82
- **5.** Horgan D, Ciliberto G, Conte P, et al. 2020. Bringing greater accuracy to Europe's healthcare systems: The unexploited potential of biomarker testing in oncology. Biomed Hub 5(3): 1-42
- **6.** Pulumati A, Pulumati A, Dwarakanath BS, *et al.* 2023. Technological advancements in cancer diagnostics: Improvements and limitations. *Cancer Rep (Hoboken)*: 10.1002/cnr2.1764
- **7.** Pei Q, Luo Y, Chen Y, et al. 2022. Artificial intelligence in clinical applications for lung cancer: diagnosis, treatment and prognosis. Clin Chem and Lab Med (CCLM) 60(12): 1974-83
- **8.** Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Precision Medicine. [Updated 27/09/18]. Available from: <a href="https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/in-vitro-diagnostics/precision-medicine">https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/in-vitro-diagnostics/precision-medicine</a> [Accessed 11/01/24]

- **9.** National Cancer Institute. Detection and Diagnosis. Available from: <a href="https://www.cancer.gov/nano/cancer-nanotechnology/detection-diagnosis">https://www.cancer.gov/nano/cancer-nanotechnology/detection-diagnosis</a> [Accessed 19/01/24]
- **10.** Hofmarcher T, Malmberg C, Lindgren P. 2023. A global analysis of the value of precision medicine in oncology The case of non-small cell lung cancer. *Front Med*: 10.3389/fmed.2023. 1119506
- **11.** Murphy C, Byrne S, Ahmed G, et al. 2018. Cost Implications of Reactive Versus Prospective Testing for Dihydropyrimidine Dehydrogenase Deficiency in Patients With Colorectal Cancer: A Single-Institution Experience. Dose Response: 10.1177/1559325818803042
- **12.** Wilsdon T, Barron A, Edwards G, et al. 2018. The benefits of personalised medicine to patients, society and healthcare systems. Brussels: European Biopharmaceutical Enterprises and European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations
- **13.** McGarvey N, Gitlin M, Fadli E, *et al.* 2022. Increased healthcare costs by later stage cancer diagnosis. *BMC Health Serv Res*: 10.1186/s12913-022-08457-6
- **14.** Cui M, Zhang D. 2021. Artificial intelligence and computational pathology. *Lab Invest* 101(4): 412-22
- **15.** National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2023. *Artificial intelligence-derived software to analyse chest X-rays for suspected lung cancer in primary care referrals: early value assessment.* London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
- **16.** Botham J, Shilling V, Jones J. 2021. Patient and public understanding of the concept of 'personalised medicine' in relation to cancer treatment: a systematic review. *Future Healthc J* 8(3): e703-e08

- **17.** Mateo J, Steuten L, Aftimos P, *et al.* 2022. Delivering precision oncology to patients with cancer. *Nat Med* 28(4): 658-65
- **18.** European Cancer Organisation. 2023. *Time to Accelerate: Together Against Cancer: The European Cancer Manifesto for 2024.* Brussels: European Cancer Organisation
- 19. European Confederation of Pharmaceutical Entrepreneurs. Developing an advanced diagnostics ecosystem in Europe: A proposal for change. [Updated 27/04/21]. Available from: <a href="https://www.eucope.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/eucope-advanced-diagnostics-white-paper.pdf">https://www.eucope.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/eucope-advanced-diagnostics-white-paper.pdf</a> [Accessed 02/05/24]
- 20. EU Science Hub. 2023. Cancer cases and deaths on the rise in the EU. [Updated 02/10/23]. Available from: https://joint-research-centre.ec.europa.eu/jrc-news-and-updates/cancer-cases-and-deaths-rise-eu-2023-10-02\_en [Accessed 29/04/24]
- **21.** Kembou Nzale S, Weeks WB, Ouafik LH, et al. 2020. Inequity in access to personalized medicine in France: Evidences from analysis of geo variations in the access to molecular profiling among advanced non-small-cell lung cancer patients: Results from the IFCT Biomarkers France Study. *PLoS One*: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234387
- **22.** Berchet C, Dedet G, Klazinga N, et al. 2023. Inequalities in cancer prevention and care across Europe. *Lancet Oncol* 24(1): 10-11
- **23.** Bayle A, Bonastre J, Chaltiel D, *et al.* 2023. ESMO study on the availability and accessibility of biomolecular technologies in oncology in Europe. *Ann Oncol* 34(10): 934-45

- **24.** Baird A-M, Westphalen CB, Blum S, *et al.* 2023. How can we deliver on the promise of precision medicine in oncology and beyond? A practical roadmap for action. *Health Sci Rep*: 10.1002/hsr2.1349
- **25.** Schwaederle M, Zhao M, Lee JJ, *et al.* 2015. Impact of Precision Medicine in Diverse Cancers: A Meta-Analysis of Phase II Clinical Trials. *J Clin Oncol* 33(32): 3817-25
- **26.** L.E.K. Consulting. 2021. Unlocking the potential of precision medicine in Europe: Improving cancer care through broader access to quality biomarker testing. Available from: <a href="https://ecpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/unlocking-the-potential-of-precision-medicine-in-europe-23022021.pdf">https://ecpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/unlocking-the-potential-of-precision-medicine-in-europe-23022021.pdf</a> [Accessed 30/04/24]
- **27.** Mantere T, Kersten S, Hoischen A. 2019. Long-read sequencing emerging in medical genetics. *Front Genet* 10: 1-14
- **28.** Vanguri RS, Luo J, Aukerman AT, et al. 2022. Multimodal integration of radiology, pathology and genomics for prediction of response to PD-(L)1 blockade in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Nat Cancer* 3(10): 1151-64
- **29.** Schwenck J, Sonanini D, Cotton JM, et al. 2023. Advances in PET imaging of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 23(7): 474-90
- **30.** Wilsdon T, Sablek A, Adeyemo T, et al. 2023. Adoption of precision health and precision medicine approaches in addressing population health needs in Europe. Belgium: The European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations (EFPIA)
- **31.** de Kock R, van den Borne B, Soud MY-E, et al. 2021. Circulating biomarkers for monitoring therapy response and detection of disease progression in lung cancer patients. *Cancer Treat Res Commun*: 10.1016/j.ctarc. 2021.100410
- **32.** Crosby D, Bhatia S, Brindle KM, *et al.* 2022. Early detection of cancer. *Science*: 10.1126/science. aay9040

- **33.** Khan SA, Hernandez-Villafuerte K, Hernandez D, et al. 2023. Estimation of the stage-wise costs of breast cancer in Germany using a modeling approach. *Front Pub Health*: 10.3389/fpubh.2022. 946544
- **34.** Huang S-C, Chen C-C, Lan J, et al. 2022. Deep neural network trained on gigapixel images improves lymph node metastasis detection in clinical settings. *Nat Commun*: 10.1038/s41467-022-30746-1
- **35.** European Commission. 2020. Magnetic Resonance Imaging units. *ECIR European Cancer Inequalities Registry.* Available from: <a href="https://cancerinequalities.jrc.ec.europa.eu/datatool-by-country?ind=MRIUN&ft=TOTAL">https://cancerinequalities.jrc.ec.europa.eu/datatool-by-country?ind=MRIUN&ft=TOTAL</a> [Accessed 01/02/24]
- **36.** European Commission. 2020. PET scanners. *ECIR European Cancer Inequalities Registry*. Available from: <a href="https://cancer-inequalities.jrc.ec.europa.eu/data-tool-by-country?ind=PETSCAN&ft=TOTAL">https://cancer-inequalities.jrc.ec.europa.eu/data-tool-by-country?ind=PETSCAN&ft=TOTAL</a> [Accessed 01/02/24]
- **37.** Griesinger F, Eberhardt W, Nusch A, et al. 2021. Biomarker testing in nonsmall cell lung cancer in routine care: Analysis of the first 3,717 patients in the German prospective, observational, nation-wide CRISP Registry (AIOTRK-0315). Lung Cancer 152: 174-84
- **38.** Vaccarella S, Georges D, Bray F, *et al.* 2023. Socioeconomic inequalities in cancer mortality between and within countries in Europe: a population-based study. *Lancet Reg Health Eur*: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2022. 100551
- **39.** Nelson D, Selby P, Kane R, *et al.* 2024. Implementing the European code of cancer practice in rural settings. *J Cancer Policy*: 10.1016/j.jcpo.2023. 100465
- **40.** Alix-Panabières C, Pantel K. 2021. Liquid Biopsy: From Discovery to Clinical Application. *Cancer Discov* 11(4): 858-73

- **41.** Cowling T, Loshak H. 2019. *An overview of liquid biopsy for screening and early detection of cancer.*Ottawa: Canada's Drug and Health Technology Agency
- **42.** Douillard JY, Ostoros G, Cobo M, *et al.* 2014. Gefitinib treatment in EGFR mutated caucasian NSCLC: circulating-free tumor DNA as a surrogate for determination of EGFR status. *J Thorac Oncol* 9(9): 1345-53
- **43.** Arcila ME, Oxnard GR, Nafa K, *et al.* 2011. Rebiopsy of lung cancer patients with acquired resistance to EGFR inhibitors and enhanced detection of the T790M mutation using a locked nucleic acid-based assay. *Clin Cancer Res* 17(5): 1169-80
- **44.** Chaudhuri AA, Chabon JJ, Lovejoy AF, et al. 2017. Early Detection of Molecular Residual Disease in Localized Lung Cancer by Circulating Tumor DNA Profiling. *Cancer Discov* 7(12): 1394-403
- **45.** Haselmann V, Gebhardt C, Brechtel I, et al. 2018. Liquid Profiling of Circulating Tumor DNA in Plasma of Melanoma Patients for Companion Diagnostics and Monitoring of BRAF Inhibitor Therapy. Clin Chem 64(5): 830-42
- **46.** Fagery M, Khorshidi HA, Wong SQ, et al. 2023. Health Economic Evidence and Modeling Challenges for Liquid Biopsy Assays in Cancer Management: A Systematic Literature Review. Pharmacoeconomics 41(10): 1229-48
- **47.** Gray E, Cameron JM, Butler HJ, et al. 2021. Early economic evaluation to guide the development of a spectroscopic liquid biopsy for the detection of brain cancer. Int J Technol Assess Health Care: 37(1): e41
- **48.** Rossi G, Ignatiadis M. 2019. Promises and Pitfalls of Using Liquid Biopsy for Precision Medicine. *Cancer Res* 79(11): 2798-804

- **49.** Athanasopoulou K, Boti MA, Adamopoulos PG, *et al.* 2021. Third-Generation Sequencing: the spearhead towards the radical transformation of modern genomics. *Life (Basel)*: 10.3390/ life12010030
- **50.** Oehler JB, Wright H, Stark Z, et al. 2023. The application of long-read sequencing in clinical settings. *Human Genomics* 17(1): 73
- **51.** Mehrmohamadi M, Sepehri MH, Nazer N, *et al.* 2021. A Comparative Overview of Epigenomic Profiling Methods. *Front Cell Dev Bio*: 10.3389/fcell.2021.714687
- **52.** Li W, Zhou XJ. 2020. Methylation extends the reach of liquid biopsy in cancer detection. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 17(11): 655-56
- **53.** Constâncio V, Nunes SP, Henrique R, *et al.* 2020. DNA Methylation-Based Testing in Liquid Biopsies as Detection and Prognostic Biomarkers for the Four Major Cancer Types. *Cells* 9(3): 624
- **54.** Dong Y, Zhao H, Li H, et al. 2014. DNA methylation as an early diagnostic marker of cancer (Review). *Biomed Rep* 2(3): 326-30
- **55.** Kwon H-J, Shin SH, Kim HH, *et al.* 2023. Advances in methylation analysis of liquid biopsy in early cancer detection of colorectal and lung cancer. *Sci Rep*: 10.1038/s41598-023-40611-w
- **56.** Jiang H, Ou Z, He Y, *et al.* 2020. DNA methylation markers in the diagnosis and prognosis of common leukemias. *Signal Transduct Target Ther*: 10.1038/s41392-019-0090-5
- **57.** Cherry SR, Jones T, Karp JS, *et al.* 2018. Total-Body PET: Maximizing Sensitivity to Create New Opportunities for Clinical Research and Patient Care. *J Nucl Med* 59(1): 3-12
- **58.** Tan H, Gu Y, Yu H, *et al.* 2020. Total-Body PET/CT: Current Applications and Future Perspectives. *Am J Roentgenol* 215(2): 325-37

- **59.** Berg E, Cherry SR. 2018. Innovations in Instrumentation for Positron Emission Tomography. *Semin Nucl Med* 48(4): 311-31
- **60.** Katal S, Eibschutz LS, Saboury B, *et al.* 2022. Advantages and Applications of Total-Body PET Scanning. *Diagnostics (Basel)*: 10.3390/diagnostics12020426
- **61.** Ahmed HU, El-Shater Bosaily A, Brown LC, et al. 2017. Diagnostic accuracy of multi-parametric MRI and TRUS biopsy in prostate cancer (PROMIS): a paired validating confirmatory study. *Lancet* 389(10071): 815-22
- **62.** Liu CH, Grodzinski P. 2021. Nanotechnology for cancer imaging: advances, challenges, and clinical opportunities. *Radiol Imaging Cancer*: 10.1148/rycan. 2021200052
- **63.** Shams F, Golchin A, Azari A, *et al.* 2022. Nanotechnology-based products for cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Biol Rep* 49(2): 1389-412
- **64.** Hanna MG, Reuter VE, Samboy J, *et al.* 2019. Implementation of digital pathology offers clinical and operational increase in efficiency and cost savings. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 143(12): 1545-55
- **65.** Liu JTC, Glaser AK, Bera K, *et al.* 2021. Harnessing non-destructive 3D pathology. *Nat Biomed Eng* 5(3): 203-18
- **66.** Brock KK, Chen SR, Sheth RA, *et al.* 2023. Imaging in interventional radiology: 2043 and beyond. *Radiology*: 10.1148/radiol. 230146
- **67.** Koh D-M, Papanikolaou N, Bick U, et al. 2022. Artificial intelligence and machine learning in cancer imaging. *Commun Med* 2(1): 133
- **68.** Liu K, Li Q, Ma J, et al. 2019. Evaluating a Fully Automated Pulmonary Nodule Detection Approach and Its Impact on Radiologist Performance. *Radiol Artif* Intell 1(3): e180084

- **69.** Yin Z, Yao C, Zhang L, *et al.* 2023. Application of artificial intelligence in diagnosis and treatment of colorectal cancer: A novel Prospect. *Front Med (Lausanne)* 10: 1128084
- **70.** Yin Z, Yao C, Zhang L, *et al.* 2023. Application of artificial intelligence in diagnosis and treatment of colorectal cancer: A novel Prospect. *Front Med* (*Lausanne*) 10: 1128084
- **71.** Breastcancer.org. HER2 status. Available from: <a href="https://www.breastcancer.org/pathology-report/">https://www.breastcancer.org/pathology-report/</a> her2-status [Accessed 06/02/24]
- **72.** Bae K, Jeon YS, Hwangbo Y, et al. 2023. Data-Efficient Computational Pathology Platform for Faster and Cheaper Breast Cancer Subtype Identifications: Development of a Deep Learning Model. *JMIR Cancer* 9: e45547
- **73.** Frey P, Mamilos A, Minin E, *et al.* 2023. Al-based HER2-low IHC scoring in breast cancer across multiple sites, clones, and scanners. *J Clin Oncol* 41(16\_suppl): 516-16
- **74.** Philips. What is computational pathology? Available from: <a href="https://www.philips.co.uk/healthcare/sites/pathology/about/computational-pathology">https://www.philips.co.uk/healthcare/sites/pathology/about/computational-pathology</a> [Accessed 18/01/24]
- **75.** Indica Labs. Press Release: Indica Labs achieves CE-IVD certification for AI-based Prostate Cancer Detection and Gleason Grading Tool. Available from: <a href="https://indicalab.com/news/">https://indicalab.com/news/</a> <a href="press-release-indica-labs-achieves-ce-ivd-certification-for-ai-based-prostate-cancer-detection-and-gleason-grading-tool/">https://indicalab.com/news/</a> <a href="press-release-indica-labs-achieves-ce-ivd-certification-for-ai-based-press-release-indica-labs-achieves-ce-ivd-certification-for-ai-based-press-release-indica-labs-achieves-ce-ivd-certification-for-ai-based-press-release-indica-labs-achieves-ce-ivd-certification-for-ai-based-press-release-indica-labs-achieves-ce-ivd-certification-for-ai-base
- **76.** Swillens JEM, Nagtegaal ID, Engels S, *et al.* 2023. Pathologists' first opinions on barriers and facilitators of computational pathology adoption in oncological pathology: an international study. *Oncogene* 42(38): 2816-27
- **77.** Boehm KM, Khosravi P, Vanguri R, et al. 2022. Harnessing multimodal data integration to advance precision oncology. *Nat Rev Cancer* 22(2): 114-26

- **78.** Tempany CM, Jayender J, Kapur T, et al. 2015. Multimodal imaging for improved diagnosis and treatment of cancers. *Cancer* 121(6): 817-27
- **79.** Lekadir K, Quaglio G, Tselioudis Garmendia A, et al. 2022. Artificial intelligence in healthcare: Applications, risks, and ethical and societal impacts. Brussels: European Parliamentary Research Service
- **80.** Lennerz JK, Green U, Williamson DFK, *et al.* 2022. A unifying force for the realization of medical AI. *NPJ Digit Med*: 10.1038/s41746-022-00721-7
- 81. Medicines & Healthcare products
  Regulatory Agency. 2021. Guidance:
  Good Machine Learning Practice for
  Medical Device Development: Guiding
  Principles. Available from: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/good-machine-learning-practice-for-medical-device-development-guiding-principles/good-machine-learning-practice-for-medical-device-development-guiding-principles [Accessed 07/05/24]
- **82.** European Commission. Sectorial Al Testing and Experimentation Facilities under the Digital Europe Programme. [Updated 29/06/23]. Available from: https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/activities/testing-and-experimentation-facilities [Accessed 02/05/24]
- **83.** Government of Canada. What is a regulatory sandbox? Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/government/system/laws/developing-improving-federal-regulations/modernizing-regulations/what-is-a-regulatory-sandbox.html [Accessed 02/05/24]
- **84.** Attrey A, Lesher M, Lomax C. 2020. *The role of sandboxes in promoting flexibility and innovation in the digital age.* Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

- **85.** Testing and Experimentation Facility for Health AI and Robotics. TEF-Health as a whole. Available from: <a href="https://tefhealth.eu/as-a-whole">https://tefhealth.eu/as-a-whole</a> [Accessed 16/04/24]
- 86. Council of the European Union. 2023. Commission staff working document Regulatory learning in the EU Guidance on regulatory sandboxes, testbeds, and living labs in the EU, with a focus section on energy. Brussels: Council of the European Union
- 87. Council of the European Union. 2024. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council laying down harmonised rules on artificial intelligence (Artificial Intelligence Act) and amending certain Union legislative acts Analysis of the final compromise text with a view to agreement. Brussels: Council of the European Union
- **88.** Testing and Experimentation Facility for Health AI and Robotics (TEF-Health). 2024. Roadmap. Available from: <a href="https://tefhealth.eu/roadmap">https://tefhealth.eu/roadmap</a> [Accessed 02/05/24]
- **89.** Testing and Experimentation
  Facility for Health AI and Robotics
  Portugal. Testing and Experimentation:
  Facilities for Health AI and Robotics.
  Available from: <a href="https://tefhealth.pt/#intro">https://tefhealth.pt/#intro</a> [Accessed 01/05/24]
- 90. European Parliament and the Council of the European Union.
  Regulation (EU) 2023/607 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 March 2023 amending regulations (EU) 2017/745 and (EU) 2017/746 as regards the transitional provisions for certain medical devices and in vitro diagnostic medical devices. [Updated 15/03/23]. Available from: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32023R0607 [Accessed 01/05/24]

- 91. European Federation of
  Pharmaceutical Industries and
  Associations, European Cancer
  Patient Coalition, Diaceutics. Joint
  stakeholder letter: call to action to the
  European Commission to postpone
  and facilitate a phased implementation
  of the in vitro diagnostic Regulation.
  [Updated 26/05/21]. Available from:
  https://www.efpia.eu/media/602667/
  call-to-action-to-the-europeancommission-to-postpone-andfacilitate-a-phased-implementation-ofthe-in-vitro-diagnostic-regulation.pdf
  [Accessed 01/05/24]
- **92.** European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations. 2023. *Critical impacts of IVDR implementation on patient access to clinical trials.* Brussels: European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations
- 93. Med Tech Europe. Open Letter: Need for comprehensive structural reform to address healthcare access challenges resulting from the EU regulatory framework for medical technologies. Available from: <a href="https://www.medtecheurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/medtecheurope\_open-letter-to-commissioner-kyriakides.pdf">https://www.medtecheurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/medtecheurope\_open-letter-to-commissioner-kyriakides.pdf</a> [Accessed 01/05/24]
- **94.** European Commission. 2024. Regulation of the european parliament and of the council: amending Regulations (EU) 2017/745 and (EU) 2017/746 as regards a gradual roll-out of Eudamed, information obligation in case of interruption of supply and the transitional provisions for certain in vitro diagnostic medical devices. Brussels: European Commission
- **95.** Bélisle-Pipon JC, Couture V, Roy MC, et al. 2021. What Makes Artificial Intelligence Exceptional in Health Technology Assessment? Front Artif Intell 4: 736697

- **96.** Blay J, Dillion A, O'Rourke B, *et al.* When Decision Meets Precision: It Is Time to Evolve Current Approaches to Health Technology Assessments for the Evaluation of Precision Oncology Therapeutics. Available from: <a href="https://shifthealth.wpenginepowered.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/11/Shift-Health\_When-Precision-Meets-Decision.pdf">https://shifthealth.wpenginepowered.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/11/Shift-Health\_When-Precision-Meets-Decision.pdf</a> [Accessed 01/05/24]
- **97.** Cardoso F, MacNeill F, Penault-Llorca F, *et al.* 2021. Why is appropriate healthcare inaccessible for many European breast cancer patients? - The EBCC 12 manifesto. *Breast* 55: 128-35
- **98.** Koleva-Kolarova R, Buchanan J, Vellekoop H, *et al.* 2022. Financing and Reimbursement Models for Personalised Medicine: A Systematic Review to Identify Current Models and Future Options. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy* 20(4): 501-24
- **99.** Scott DN, Palmer MA, Tidhar MT, et al. 2021. Assessment of the cost-effectiveness of Australia's risk-sharing agreement for direct-acting antiviral treatments for hepatitis C: a modelling study. Lancet Reg Health Western Pacific: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021. 100316
- **100.** Cherla A, Howard N, Mossialos E. 2021. The 'Netflix plus model': can subscription financing improve access to medicines in low- and middle-income countries? *Health Econ Policy Law* 16(2): 113-23
- **101.** Moon S, Erickson E. 2019. Universal medicine access through lump-sum remuneration — Australia's approach to hepatitis C. *N Engl J Med* 380(7): 607-10
- **102.** Normanno N, Apostolidis K, Wolf A, et al. 2022. Access and quality of biomarker testing for precision oncology in Europe. Eur J Cancer 176: 70-77

- 103. Brazil R. Molecular diagnostics and NGS in the clinic: where are we and where do we need to go? [Updated 18/03/22]. Available from: https://cancerworld.net/molecular-diagnostics-and-ngs-in-the-clinic-where-are-we-and-where-do-we-need-to-go/[Accessed 01/05/24]
- **104.** Scott JA, Lennerz J, Johnson ML, et al. 2023. Compromised outcomes in stage IV non–small-cell lung cancer with actionable mutations initially treated without tyrosine kinase inhibitors: a retrospective analysis of real-world data. *JCO Oncol Pract*: 10.1200/op.22.00611
- **105.** Cuppen E, Elemento O, Rosenquist R, *et al.* 2022. Implementation of Whole-Genome and Transcriptome Sequencing Into Clinical Cancer Care. *JCO Precision Oncol*: 10.1200/P0.22.00245 (6): e2200245
- **106.** Vis DJ, Lewin J, Liao RG, *et al.* 2017. Towards a global cancer knowledge network: dissecting the current international cancer genomic sequencing landscape. *Ann Oncol* 28(5): 1145-51
- **107.** Lawler M, Haussler D, Siu LL, et al. 2017. Sharing Clinical and Genomic Data on Cancer The Need for Global Solutions. *N Engl J Med* 376(21): 2006-09
- **108.** Vukovic J, Ivankovic D, Habl C, et al. 2022. Enablers and barriers to the secondary use of health data in Europe: general data protection regulation perspective. Arch Public Health: 10.1186/s13690-022-00866-7
- 109. The Innovative Partnership for Action Against Cancer. Europe's Beating Cancer Plan: A new EU approach to prevention, treatment and care. [Updated 03/02/21]. Available from: <a href="https://www.ipaac.eu/news-detail/en/53-europe-s-beating-cancer-plan-a-new-eu-approach-to-prevention-treatment-and-care/">https://www.ipaac.eu/news-detail/en/53-europe-s-beating-cancer-plan-a-new-eu-approach-to-prevention-treatment-and-care/</a> [Accessed 09/02/24]

- **110.** European Commission. 2021. Europe's Beating Cancer Plan. Available from: <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/non\_communicable\_diseases/docs/eu\_cancer-plan\_en.pdf">https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/non\_communicable\_diseases/docs/eu\_cancer-plan\_en.pdf</a> [Accessed 01/05/24]
- 111. European Commission.
  Europe's Beating Cancer Plan:
  Implementation Roadmap. Available
  from: https://health.ec.europa.eu/
  system/files/2022-01/2021-2025\_
  cancer-roadmap1\_en\_0.pdf
  [Accessed 25/04/24]
- **112.** European Commission.
  European Cancer Imaging Initiative.
  [Updated 24/04/24]. Available from: https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/cancer-imaging
  [Accessed 01/05/24]
- 113. European Commission. Cancer Image Europe platform: the first prototype of the pan-European digital infrastructure goes live. Available from: https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/news/cancer-image-europe-platform-first-prototype-pan-european-digital-infrastructure-goes-live [Accessed 18/01/24]
- **114.** European Institute for Biomedical Imaging Research. EUCAIM: Cancer Image Europe. Available from: <a href="https://www.eibir.org/projects/eucaim/">https://www.eibir.org/projects/eucaim/</a> [Accessed 01/05/24]
- **115.** Cancer Image Europe. Frequently asked questions. Available from: <a href="https://cancerimage.eu/faq/">https://cancerimage.eu/faq/</a> [Accessed 01/05/24]
- **116.** Cancer Image Europe. Cancer Image Europe: Bridging Repositories, Transforming Outcomes. Available from: <a href="https://cancerimage.eu/what-we-do/">https://cancerimage.eu/what-we-do/</a> [Accessed 01/05/24]
- **117.** Amesz B, Kooreman P, Kwee A. 2023. *Innovation for sustainable cancer care: addressing workforce shortages.* Baarn: Vintura

- 118. European Cancer Patient
  Coalition. Realising the potential of
  genomic technologies in cancer care:
  Implementing the 'Cancer Diagnostic
  and Treatment for All' initiative
  in the EU. [Updated 07/12/21].
  Available from: <a href="https://ecpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/Report-Realising-the-potential-of-genomic-technologies-in-cancer-care-2021.pdf">https://ecpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/Report-Realising-the-potential-of-genomic-technologies-in-cancer-care-2021.pdf</a>
  [Accessed 01/05/24]
- **119.** The Royal College of Radiologists. 2023. *Clinical Radiology Workforce Census 2022.* London: The Royal College of Radiologists
- **120.** Ignatiadis M, Sledge GW, Jeffrey SS. 2021. Liquid biopsy enters the clinic implementation issues and future challenges. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 18(5): 297-312
- **121.** Shickh S, Leventakos K, Lewis MA, *et al.* 2023. Shared decision making in the care of patients with cancer. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*: 10.1200/EDBK\_389516 (43): e389516
- **122.** Haga SB, O'Daniel JM, Tindall GM, *et al.* 2012. Survey of US public attitudes toward pharmacogenetic testing. *Pharmacogenomics J* 12(3): 197-204
- **123.** Butrick M, Roter D, Kaphingst K, *et al.* 2011. Patient reactions to personalized medicine vignettes: an experimental design. *Genet Med* 13(5): 421-8
- **124.** De Marco M, Cykert S, Coad N, et al. 2010. Views on personalized medicine: do the attitudes of African American and white prescription drug consumers differ? Public Health Genomics 13(5): 276-83
- **125.** Fisher ER, Pratt R, Esch R, et al. 2020. The role of race and ethnicity in views toward and participation in genetic studies and precision medicine research in the United States: A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. *Mol Genet Genomic Med* 8(2): e1099

- **126.** Holden C, Bignell L, Mukhopadhyay S, et al. 2019. The public perception of the facilitators and barriers to implementing personalized medicine: a systematic review. *Per Med* 16(5): 409-20
- **127.** Liu JTC, Chow SSL, Colling R, *et al.* 2023. Engineering the future of 3D pathology. *J Pathol Clin Res*: 10.1002/cjp2.347
- **128.** Google Cloud. What is Artificial Intelligence? Available from: <a href="https://cloud.google.com/learn/what-is-artificial-intelligence">https://cloud.google.com/learn/what-is-artificial-intelligence</a> [Accessed 15/01/24]
- **129.** Sarhadi VK, Armengol G. 2022. Molecular Biomarkers in Cancer. *Biomolecules*: 10.3390/biom12081021
- **130.** Abels E, Pantanowitz L, Aeffner F, et al. 2019. Computational pathology definitions, best practices, and recommendations for regulatory guidance: a white paper from the Digital Pathology Association.

  J Pathol 249(3): 286-94
- **131.** National Human Genome Research Institute. Genomics. [Updated 12/01/24]. Available from: <a href="https://www.genome.gov/genetics-glossary/genomics">https://www.genome.gov/genetics-glossary/genomics</a> [Accessed 15/01/24]
- **132.** Weissleder R, Mahmood U. 2001. Molecular imaging. *Radiology* 219(2): 316-33
- **133.** Demirel HC, Davis JW. 2018. Multiparametric magnetic resonance imaging: Overview of the technique, clinical applications in prostate biopsy and future directions. *Turk J Urol* 44(2): 93-102
- **134.** Cancer Research UK.
  Multiparametric MRI (mpMRI) scan
  for prostate cancer. [Updated
  05/04/22]. Available from: https://www.
  cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/
  tests-and-scans/multiparametric-mri
  [Accessed 15/01/24]

- **135.** Li W, Wang H, Zhao Z, et al. 2019. Emerging Nanotechnologies for Liquid Biopsy: The Detection of Circulating Tumor Cells and Extracellular Vesicles. Adv Mater: 10.1002/adma. 201805344
- **136.** European Society of Pathology. What is pathology? Available from: <a href="https://www.esp-pathology.org/about-esp/pathology-and-public-task-force-1/what-is-pathology.html">https://www.esp-pathology.org/about-esp/pathology-and-public-task-force-1/what-is-pathology.html</a> [Accessed 16/01/24]
- **137.** Chen Z, He X. 2021. Application of third-generation sequencing in cancer research. *Medical Review* 1(2): 150-71
- **138.** American Society of Clinical Oncology. Biopsy. [Updated 10/2021]. Available from: <a href="https://www.cancer.net/navigating-cancer-care/diagnosing-cancer/tests-and-procedures/biopsy">https://www.cancer.net/navigating-cancer-care/diagnosing-cancer/tests-and-procedures/biopsy</a> [Accessed 15/01/24]
- **139.** National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering. Nuclear medicine. Available from: <a href="https://www.nibib.nih.gov/science-education/science-topics/nuclear-medicine">https://www.nibib.nih.gov/science-education/science-topics/nuclear-medicine</a> [Accessed 18/01/24]



# Health Policy Partnership

© The Health Policy Partnership, 2024. All rights reserved. Date of preparation: 16 May 2024 Z4-65799

Boldon S, Shackleton E, Tate J et al. 2024. Powering the future of cancer care with advanced diagnostics. London: The Health Policy Partnership